1989

Vail J. Phillips v. Utah State Credit Union : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the 18th of November, 1980, Phillips secured a loan from USCU (together with Jack R. Neese) for \$150,000.00 from the Utah State Credit Union (USCU), Defendant in this action and executed a Promissory Note therefore. Neese had previously filed Bankruptcy and therefore was not a party in the action. The loan was secured by two forms of collateral: 1) A lien in the form of a Trust Deed on real property owned by Plaintiff and Jack R. Neese; and 2) the assignment of a real estate note and mortgage held by Plaintiff and Neese as mortgagees, and Central Ranches, Inc., aka Desert Springs, Inc., as mortgagors. This assigned note only provided for annual payments to Neese and Phillips. (Exhibit B #1).

Phillips failed to make payments on the note, and on October 25, 1985, USCU served Phillips and Neese with a written declaration of default. This document was recorded November 21, 1985. (Exhibit B #2). At this time, however, the annual payments on the assigned mortgage were not delinquent.

In November, 1985, Phillips was issued a check from Guardian Title in the amount of \$27,850.00 made payable jointly to USCU and Vail J. Phillips. Said check was issued pursuant to and in conformity with the assigned mortgage. (Exhibit C #2, #3)

Phillips failed to disclose to USCU that he had received this check during the entire default period under the Deed of Trust although it was more than sufficient to cure the default.

(Trial Court Record (hereinafter "R") p. 45) (Exhibit C #4). He apparently kept this check, unnegotiated, for approximately one year.

USCU exercised the power of sale provided for in the Trust Deed and conducted a Trustee's Sale on April 29, 1986. The property described in Exhibit A was at that time purchased by USCU for \$90,000.00. The balance due on the note at the time of the sale was \$112,566.30 leaving a balance still due after application of the sale proceeds. (Exhibit B #3).

USCU first became aware of the issuance of the \$27,850.00 check from Guardian Title in November of 1986, when it received a letter from Guardian Title Company requesting the help of the Credit Union to determine why the check had not been negotiated. (R. p. 45) (Exhibit C #5).

USCU met with Vail Phillips later in November of 1986, at which time the issuance of the check was discussed by the parties. At that time, they discussed the possibility of depositing the money into an escrow account with USCU, but Plaintiff refused to so deposit the money. (R. p. 21).

This check was then cancelled by Guardian Title and a new check was reissued by Guardian Title Company on December 11, 1986, for the same amount. This second check was also concealed from USCU and was neither negotiated nor deposited by the Plaintiff. (R. pp. 8-10) (Exhibit C #7, #8).

The amount requested by said check was ultimately collected by the Plaintiff on May 12, 1987, by way of execution

against Guardian Title Company. (Exhibit C #9)

On January 17, 1987, Plaintiff filed this action. On April 29, 1987, the Honorable Leonard H. Russon granted Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

USCU filed a request for interlocutory review to the Utah Supreme Court which request was denied on August 20, 1987. On May 12, 1989, trial was held before the Honorable Leonard H. Russon to determine the issue of damages. Final judgment was entered on June 9, 1989, denying any damages to either party.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Vail Phillips and his partner borrowed money from USCU. That money was secured by both a Trust Deed and an Assignment of Mortgage on separate parcels of property. Phillips and his partner failed to make the payments due under the note as required, and the property covered by the Trust Deed was nonjudicially foreclosed.

Prior to the foreclosure, Phillips had received a check for \$27,850.00 made payable jointly to USCU and Phillips. The check was issued pursuant to and in conformity with the assignment of mortgage which was the additional collateral pledged by Phillips on his loan with USCU. The assignment was legal and absolute.

Phillips withheld knowledge of the receipt of these funds from USCU for over a year. These funds which had been assigned to USCU were more than sufficient to cure the default.

Furthermore, these funds were in excess of the balance still due after the foreclosure of the Trust Deed.

USCU was precluded from filing for a deficiency for the following reasons. First, there was no deficiency. The money from the assigned mortgage was more than sufficient to pay off the remaining debt owed by Phillips to USCU.

In this case, the security could not be liquidated because the mortgage which had been assigned to USCU was not in default. USCU could take no action on that mortgage unless it became delinquent. The funds were tendered properly by the title company, but improperly held and concealed by Phillips.

Second, the One Action Rule as set forth by §78-37-1 precluded USCU from filing for a deficiency. In order to file for a deficiency, USCU was required to first liquidate all its collateral. As set forth above, the additional collateral could not be liquidated.

§57-1-32, does not preclude USCU from receiving the additional amounts owed from the further pledged security. This statute, as interpreted by the Utah Supreme Court, only prevents additional judicial remedies. Receipt of the additional monies coming to USCU under the note was not judicial remedy covered by the statute. Furthermore, had USCU sought judicial relief for deficiency against Phillips at this point it would have waived its right to the additional collateral.

Thus it was impossible for USCU to comply with both §57-1-32 and §78-37-1. Rules of Statutory Interpretation therefore

preclude the interpretation of §57-1-32 expressed by the Trial Court as it would defeat the intent of the statutes and make their application an absurdity.

Additionally, Phillips should be equitably estopped from working a fraud on USCU. Such will be the result if USCU is precluded from receiving the balance owed on its note from the security, namely the unnegotiated check which had been in the possession of Phillips for over a year. Clearly an individual should not be allowed to abuse the law by using it to perpetrate a fraud on his creditors.

Finally, §57-1-32 does not bar a tort claim for conversion. The necessary elements for conversion having been found by the Trial Court, USCU is entitled, as a matter of law, to its claim for damages against Phillips.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, §57-1-32 IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE INSTANT CASE.

A. Utah Law Required USCU to Satisfy The Balance Due On The Debt By First Exhausting All Security Pledged.

Utah State Credit Union was obligated under Utah Law to satisfy the balance due on the debt owed from Phillips by first exhausting all security before it could proceed against Phillips personally. This rule was set forth by the Utah Supreme Court in Bank of Ephraim v Davis, 581 P.2d 1001 (Utah 1978). Security must be exhausted as to both quantity and quality. Salt Lake

Valley Loan & Trust Co. v Millspaugh, 54 P. 893 (Utah 1889);

Bawden & Associates v Smith, 646 P.2d 711 (Utah 1982).

Furthermore, no personal liability exists until all security pledged is exhausted. Hammond v Wall, 171 P. 148 (Utah 1917); Utah Mortgage & Loan Co. v Black, 618 P.2d 43 (Utah 1980). Once all security has been exhausted then a mortgagee can proceed against the mortgager personally, and then only through judicially available remedies, that is by means of a deficiency judgment for any deficiency. Cox v Green, 696 P.2d 1207 (Utah 1985).

The courts can impose personal liability on the mortgagor only after having ordered sale of the property; and, if after sale, a deficiency appears . . . The status of a mortgage debt under 78-37-1 is somewhat analogous to one not yet due or one which lacks mutuality. Although the debt is past due, the creditor is not yet in a position to obtain personal judgment against the debtor, or to proceed to satisfy the debt out of the debtor's assets other than the mortgaged property. Davis at 1003.

USCU was in the process of satisfying the balance due on Plaintiff's note by liquidating its collateral. Defendant could not maintain a deficiency action against Phillips while remaining security had still not been liquidated. Therefore, §57-1-32 cannot have a meaningful application to this case.

B. §57-1-32 Is Inapplicable Because
There Was No Deficiency

The amount credited by USCU from the Trustee's Sale was \$90,000.00. This left a balance due of \$22,566.30. The amount of the check from the title company which was intentionally

concealed from USCU by Phillips was for \$27,850.00. These funds had been legally assigned to the Credit Union. The amount was more than enough to pay the balance still due by USCU. There being sufficient collateral remaining, in the form of the note and mortgage to meet the balance due on the loan from USCU to Phillips, there was no deficiency to sue upon. It was only upon the release of the assignment by the Trial Court that a deficiency occurred.

In Utah Mortgage & Loan Co. v Black, 618 P.2d 43, 45 (Utah 1980), the Utah Supreme Court found that §78-37-1, known as the "One-Action Rule" limits a creditor to one remedy in exhausting his security before having recourse to the debtor for a deficiency. The Court found:

Consequently, if the creditor (Plaintiff) here fails to comply with the statute in not applying the security to the Defendant's obligation in accordance with their agreement, that would preclude its recovery of any deficiency against them. Utah Mortgage & Loan Co. at 45.

Since no deficiency arises until all security is exhausted, and since the security could not all be exhausted at that time as there had been no default upon the assigned mortgage and note, no action could be taken to recover any deficiency pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §57-1-32.

In a case somewhat analogous to the present, the Utah Supreme Court in Bawden & Associates v Smith, 646 P.2d 711 (Utah 1982) found:

Where two mortgages were foreclosed in one suit but only one was sold, a deficiency judgment could be entered against the mortgager only if

the unsatisfied mortgage with respect to the parcel sold, plus costs and attorney's fees were more than the sale price, and deficiency could not be entered with respect to the second parcel until it also was sold and proceeds applied against the indebtedness and costs secured thereby." Bawden & Associates at 714.

Applying the Court's reasoning to the current case, where only one of the two items of security was foreclosed and sold, USCU could not obtain a deficiency judgment against Phillips unless the unforeclosed security, the mortgage and note, was worth less than the remaining unpaid balance of the loan. Clearly, in this case, that was not so. The check concealed by Phillips was more than sufficient to pay the remaining balance of the loan. Therefore, there was no deficiency and §57-1-32 is inapplicable. See also First Security Bank v Felger, 658 F. Supp 175 (D. Utah 1987).

In its Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment the Trial Court apparently relied upon Cox v. Green, Supra. and Concepts, Inc. v First Security Reality Services, 743 P.2d 1158 (Utah 1987). These two cases, however, are clearly distinguished from the instant case. In those two cases the only security was a Trust Deed upon a single parcel of property. Therefore upon foreclosure, all security was exhausted. The instant case can be further distinguished from Cox and Concepts, Inc. in that, in both Cox and Concepts, Inc. the creditor was attempting to recover damages against the debtor personally. In the instant case, USCU was only seeking to retain its valid interest in the additional security. Therefore, the Court's holding in Cox and

Concepts, Inc. is inapplicable to the instant case.

C. Plaintiff Should Be Estopped From
Perverting The Intent of §57-1-32.

§57-1-32 and §78-37-1 were both created to prevent double recovery by creditors and to prevent creditors from any over-reaching. See First Security Bank v Felger, 658 F. Supp. 175 (D. Utah 1987). The statutes were not created to allow a debtor to defraud his creditors. In the current case, the debtor, Phillips, had in his possession monies to which USCU was legally entitled. He willfully concealed those funds from USCU. (R. p. 12-14).

Those funds were sufficient to clear any default on the loan prior to the Trust Deed foreclosure and were more than sufficient to meet the balance owed after the foreclosure sale. (R. p. 13).

A finding therefore, that Phillips is entitled to a reassignment of the note and mortgage and its proceeds, is an endorsement of Phillips' devious efforts to avoid payment of his just debt to USCU.

POINT II. USCU'S COUNTERCLAIM AGAINST PHILLIPS
SHOULD BE GRANTED AS A MATTER OF LAW

A. Plaintiff's Conduct Constitutes
Conversion Of USCU's Property

Utah follows orthodox criteria in applying the doctrine of conversion. Benton v. Division of State Lands & Forestry, 709

P.2d 362,365 (Utah 1985).

A conversion is an act of willful interference with a chattel, done without lawful justification, by which the person entitled thereto is deprived of its use and possession . . .

Although conversion results only from intentional conduct, but it does not require a conscious wrong doing, and an intent to exercise dominion or control over goods inconsistent with [their] owner's right of suffices. Allred v Hinkley, 328 P.2d 726 at 728 (Utah 1958).

The Record of the Trial Court shows that Phillips knew the check he received from the title company was part of the security pledged to USCU. (R. p. 11) The Record further shows that Phillips knew his note to USCU was in default. (R. p. 12).

After default a debtor has lost his right of possession in property subject to a security interest and retains only a contingent right in the surplus, if any, after the sale. Murdock v Blake, 26 Utah 2d 22, 484 P.2d 164 (1971).

Phillips' counsel admitted that the assignment was a valid one. (R. p. 38). Furthermore, the Trial Court found that the Credit Union was entitled to the payment. (R. p. 36). In spite of USCU's meeting all the criteria necessary for a claim of conversion, the Trial Court held no claim existed because of the bar against collections of deficiencies more than ninety (90) days following foreclosure. (R. p. 41). Such a reading of the statute is clearly overbroad.

The tort action for conversion is completely separate from any action that could have been brought for a deficiency,

had one existed. This is simply a matter of one party, Phillips, exercising unlawful control over the property of another, USCU.

Surely the statute could not be read so as to preclude the eviction of a person whom has been foreclosed on, if the eviction action is taken over 90 days after a foreclosure. Yet, using the Trial Court's reasoning this would be the application of the statute. Independent causes of action cannot be barred by §57-1-32 where they do not comprise an attempt to obtain a deficiency against a debtor. Therefore, USCU's claim for conversion, having been established as a matter of law, should be granted.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the Trial Court erred in awarding Judgment against USCU for the following reasons:

(1) USCU was prevented from bringing a deficiency action against Phillips pursuant to the One-Action Rule until all its collateral had been exhausted.

(2) There was no deficiency, and therefore no cause of action under §57-1-32, until the Trial Court's release of the assignment of mortgage and note to Phillips.

(3) The Trial Court's interpretation of §57-1-32 is erroneous as it conflicts with §78-37-1.

(4) Phillips should be equitably estopped from pleading §57-1-32 as a defense, because to allow him to do so is to put a judicial stamp of approval on Phillips' devious attempts to avoid payment of his just debt to USCU.

(5) U.C.A. §57-1-32 is inapplicable as a defense to USCUs Counterclaim.

(6) Phillips' conduct constitutes conversion of property of USCUs.

Appellant, therefore, respectfully requests that the Judgment of the District Court be reversed with respect to its Motion for Summary Judgment and denial of USCUs Counterclaim against Plaintiff, and that this Court award Judgment to Defendant as a matter of law in the amount of \$22,560.30, together with interest, costs and such other relief as is appropriate.