1989

# Vail J. Phillips v. Utah State Credit Union : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature of the Case.

The Credit Union, after it had completed a non-judicial foreclosure of a Trust Deed on real property taken by it as primary security for a loan made to Phillips, and after the statutory time had elapsed for the Credit Union to sue Phillips for a deficiency, refused to reassign to Phillips a certain real estate mortgage and note due Phillips, together with all amounts due or to become due thereon, which Phillips had initially given to the Credit Union as additional security for said loan. The real property in said note and mortgage due Phillips being entirely different than that real property covered in the Trust Deed given the Credit Union by Phillips as primary security upon which said Credit Union foreclosed non-judicially. Phillips thereafter brought this action to compel the Credit Union to reassign to Phillips said real estate mortgage and note given as additional security. Phillips further sought to compel the Credit Union to pay over to him the amount of \$27,800, which had been paid on said promissory note and mortgage assigned as additional security to the escrow agent collecting for Phillips on said Note.

### B. Course of Proceedings.

Phillips filed a motion for partial summary judgment to have the note, mortgage and proceeds due and to become due thereon reassigned to him and the District Court granted his Motion for Summary Judgment.

At the same time the Credit Union made a similar motion for summary judgment and the same was denied.

The Credit Union, after entry of the Order on summary judgment adverse to it, filed an interlocutory appeal to this Court, which refused to hear the same and remanded the case to the District Court.

Phillips proceeded to enforce the summary judgment granted him and had the mortgage and note reassigned to him and collected all the funds owing to him thereon.

That the District Court subsequently heard the matters remaining to be tried relating to damages and attorney fees claimed by Phillips, and the Court denied Phillips's claims therefor. The Credit Union thereafter appealed the first Order granting plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.

#### FACTS

The Credit Union, on or about the 18th day of November, 1980, loaned \$150,000 to Phillips and took as security therefor a Trust Deed and Note covering real property located in Tooele County, Utah. As additional security, Phillips assigned to the Credit Union a promissory note and mortgage due him covering different property than that described in the Trust Deed and Note given by Phillips to the Credit Union as primary security. Phillips thereafter failed to make the payments to the Credit Union as required by the Trust Deed and Trust Deed Note, given it as

primary security, and as a result thereof the Credit Union sold the property described on the Trust Deed taken by it as primary security for the loan at a non-judicial foreclosure sale in Tooele County on the 29th day of April, 1986. That subsequent to said non-judicial foreclosure sale of said property the Credit Union failed to sue Phillips for a deficiency judgment within the statutory time required by §57-1-32, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, Volume 6A, as amended. Subsequent to said time running, Phillips requested that the Credit Union reassign to him his note and mortgage that he had given to the Credit Union as additional security for the loan, together with any and all proceeds due or to become due thereon, and the Credit Union declined to honor Phillips request. Phillips thereafter sued the Credit Union for return of said documents together with all proceeds due and to become due thereon. Thereafter, the Credit Union filed an interlocutory appeal and the Supreme Court refused to hear the same and remanded the case to the lower court to resolve the remaining issue, to-wit: damages, if any, suffered by Phillips because of the Credit Union's refusal to deliver the documents in question, together with the funds represented thereby and said District Court, after a hearing on the issue of damages, denied Phillips claim therefor.

All of the foregoing facts are admitted by the Credit Union's pleadings on file.



#### SUMMARY ARGUMENT

The Credit Union failed to initiate a suit for a deficiency judgment against Phillips within the time frame allowed by §57-1-32, supra, which allows three months from the date a non-judicial sale to establish a deficiency, if any. Thus, the total debt due to the Credit Union was extinguished on the date that the time ran for it to sue for a deficiency.

#### ARGUMENT

The facts admitted by the Credit Union in this case show that its trustee sold the property described in the Trust Deed in question at a non-judicial sale on April 29, 1986, and that said trustee bid on said property at said sale the sum of \$90,000, an amount less than the total claimed to be due and owing by Phillips to the Credit Union at said time. That subsequent to the date of sale, the Credit Union's trustee caused the real property being the subject matter of the non-judicial foreclosure sale to be transferred to the Credit Union. That after the sale date, to-wit: April 29, 1986, more than three (3) months elapsed, during which the Credit Union failed to file an action to establish a deficiency judgment against Phillips as required by §57-1-32, supra.

In order for the Credit Union to establish Phillips liability for any additional amounts due, it was required to comply strictly with the requirements of §57-1-32, supra, and in

the event the Credit Union failed to comply with said section it is precluded from pursuing any other remedy. §57-1-32, supra, gave the Credit Union one remedy and one remedy only, and its failure to comply therewith prohibits it from collecting additional funds from Phillips from any sources whatsoever. Because the Credit Union failed to establish a deficiency amount due and owing to it during the period of time allowed by the statute, any debt that might have been established to be due the Credit Union was automatically extinguished by the time running as provided by the statute and no money was thereafter due it from Phillips.

The Credit Union elected to proceed under the statute in question and cannot now abandon said statute in an attempt to collect on some other theory. To allow such would deprive Phillips of the opportunity to protect and defend his rights under the statute and it would allow all creditors in the Credit Union's position to overreach and treat their debtors unfairly, Concepts, Inc. v. First Security Realty Services, Inc., 743 P.2d 1158, 1160-61 (Utah, 1987).

§57-1-32, supra, is clear and unequivocal and provides that the Credit Union must within three (3) months after the non-judicial sale of real property under a trust deed, file an action to establish a deficiency against Phillips. Said statute further requires that the complaint must set forth specific

allegations as follows, to-wit: the entire amount of the indebtedness, the amount for which such property was sold at the non-judicial sale, and what the party attempting to attain a deficiency believes the fair market value of the property sold was at the date of said sale. Said statute further provides that the Court before rendering judgment shall find the fair market value of the property at the date it was sold and said Court may not render judgment for more than the amount by which the amount of indebtedness, with interest, costs and expenses of sale, including trustee and attorney fees, exceeds the fair market value of the property as of the date of the sale, Christenson v. Jewkes, 761 P.2d 1375, 1377-78 (Utah, 1988). The Credit Union failed to do any of the foregoing and therefore it is not entitled to any deficiency because it failed to establish one as required by law.

The statute in question was interpreted in Cox v Green, 696 P.2d 1207 (Utah 1985), wherein this Supreme Court stated that the statute provided the exclusive remedy for securing a deficiency judgment following a non-judicial sale of real property under a trust deed thereby precluding the pursuance of any other remedy once the sale has been made.

In the instant case the purchase of the Tooele property by the Credit Union's trustee at the non-judicial foreclosure sale and the subsequent failure of the Credit Union to file suit for a deficiency within the time period allowed by statute constituted